2011

# Nupetco Associates, LLC v. Diane Dimeo : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

**1. THE COURT OF APPEALS *MUST FIRST* DETERMINE THAT IT HAS JURISDICTION TO HEAR THIS APPEAL.**

Ms. Dimeo misunderstands the importance of the probate court's failure to certify the Denial Order under Rule 54(b), as well as the importance of whether *Voorhees* and *Morrison* apply to the present case. She argues:

Dimeo believes that the rule of Voorhees and Morrison applies and that both the Order of Appointment and the Order Denying the Petition to Vacate were final under the pragmatic test articulated in those cases. In the end it doesn't matter because Nupetco's request is so far out of time it has forfeited any right of challenge by failure to act seasonably on its rights.

Appellee's Brief at 16. In fact, if the trial court's refusal to certify the Order Denying Petition of Nupetco Associates, LLC (the "Denial Order"; R.317-19) is upheld on appeal, whether the rationale of *Voorhees* and *Morrison* applies to this case will determine whether the Court of Appeals has jurisdiction to consider this appeal. *In re Voorhees' Estate*, 12 Utah 2d 361,366, 366 P.2d 977, 980 (Utah 1961); *Estate of Morrison*, 933 P.2d 1015, 1017 (Utah App. 1997)

Similarly, in her conclusion, Ms. Dimeo claims: "Finally, Rule 54(b) certification is neither necessary nor proper, but it doesn't matter much because the initial Petition was out of time." Appellee's Brief at 17. If *Voorhees* and *Morrison* do not apply, then the Court of Appeals must consider whether the trial court abused its discretion in refusing to certify the Denial Order as final.

Otherwise, the Court of Appeals would **not** have jurisdiction to consider the substantive issues in this appeal.<sup>1</sup>

Contrary to Ms. Dimeo's position (Appellee's Brief at 14), whether *Voorhees* and *Morrison* applies is not an issue for the probate court. The sole issue before the probate court was whether, notwithstanding the fact that the Denial Order did not end the probate proceedings, the probate court should certify the Denial Order as a final order based on the findings required under Rule 54(b). Utah R. Civ. Proc. 54(b). Assuming the refusal to certify is upheld on appeal, then the issue for this Court is whether the Denial Order is nonetheless a final, appealable order under the reasoning in *Voorhees* and *Morrison*. If the trial court were to issue an opinion that the Denial Order was or was not final under the *Voorhees/Morrison* reasoning, it would not be binding on the Court of Appeals. Moreover, the Court of Appeals would still need to decide the issue *de novo* since its appellate jurisdiction would still depend on **its resolution** of the issue.

While Ms. Dimeo's claims that "[t]he 54 (b) certification issue is a distraction," and "it doesn't matter much" (Appellee's Brief at 16, 17), Nupetco

---

<sup>1</sup> In addition, the Court of Appeals might be able to consider this appeal as an interlocutory appeal as authorized when a trial court certifies its order under Rule 54(b), but the appellate court determines the order is not final. Utah R. App. Proc. 5(a).



submits that it is a **critical** issue. If the Court of Appeals refuses to reverse the trial court's failure to certify the Denial Order as final and it also determines that *Voorhees* and *Morrison* do not apply, the Court of Appeals must dismiss the appeal and remand the case for further proceedings below. It may fully agree with Ms. Dimeo, but it would have no power to say so. On remand, Nupetco would be entitled to renew its appeal at some future, unknown time when the probate proceedings were "final" at which time the Denial Order would also be "final."

Given Ms. Dimeo's belief that *Voorhees* and *Morrison* apply to this appeal (Appellee's Brief at 16), it may not be necessary to consider the trial court's failure to certify the Denial Order as final. But since determining whether the *Voorhees/Morrison* reasoning applies is ultimately the Court of Appeals' decision to make, Nupetco notes that Ms. Dimeo's argument that certification could not be granted because Nupetco was not a party is flawed. Appellee's Brief at 14-15. The Denial Order adjudicated Nupetco's rights pursuant to a petition Nupetco filed seeking relief as an "interested person" under the Utah Uniform Probate Code. R. 244; Utah Code Ann. §75-1-201(24) (defining "interested person"); §75-3-105 (granting persons interested in decedent's estates the right to seek relief from the probate court). Arguing a court can adjudicate someone's rights without

that person being a party defies common sense. *See Openshaw v. Openshaw*, 80 Utah 9, 12 P.2d 364, 365 (1932) (order granting relief to non-party void).

Accordingly, Nupetco asks the Court of Appeals to determine that it has jurisdiction to hear this appeal and then to consider the substantive issues raised in the appeal.

**2. SECTION 75-1-302 DOES NOT GRANT THE PROBATE COURT UNLIMITED JURISDICTION.**

Ms. Dimeo argues that the grant of broad jurisdictional authority in Section 75-1-302(1), together with plenary power to resolve disputes in subsection (2), answers the inquiry as to whether the probate court here exceeded its jurisdictional authority. Appellee's Brief at 5-6. Section 75-1-302(1) provides:

(1) To the full extent permitted by the Constitution of Utah, the court has jurisdiction over all subject matter relating to:

- (a) estates of decedents, including construction of wills and determination of heirs and successors of decedents, and estates of protected persons;
- (b) protection of minors and incapacitated persons; and
- (c) trusts.

Utah Code Ann. §75-1-302 (1975). If that were the end of the inquiry, there would hardly be any need for any additional provisions in the Utah Uniform Probate Code. The probate court could hear any claim falling in these categories

and enter any order. In fact, as shown by *Matter of Estate of Anderson*, 671 P.2d 165 (Utah 1983), the balance of the probate code restrains both the exercise of jurisdiction and the power to adjudicate disputes.

**a. Estate of Anderson Resolves the Jurisdictional Issues in this Case.**

In *Estate of Anderson*, by an order entered in August 1977, the probate court resolved a disputed conservatorship and guardianship proceeding by approving a stipulation between the existing conservator/guardian for Grace M. Anderson and the successor conservator/guardian. Based on the parties' stipulation, the probate court ordered:

Lois Jean Osborn [the successor guardian/conservator] shall not sign any trusts or any testamentary devises for Grace M. Anderson, nor shall Grace M. Anderson sign any such documents for herself without first petitioning and obtaining approval of this court.

*Id.* at 167.

Thereafter, in November 1977, without seeking the probate court's approval, Grace executed a new will and two new deeds transferring her real property to Lois Jean Osborn and herself as joint tenants. *Id.*

In further proceedings in February 1978, the probate court entered its order removing Ms. Osborn as conservator and appointing First Security Bank as

successor conservator. Based on another stipulation of the parties, the probate court held:

8. All deeds and instruments of conveyance executed by Grace M. Anderson from and after the 30th day of July, 1977 are hereby declared to be null and void, and specifically, the warranty deeds showing Grace M. Anderson as a grantor and Grace M. Anderson and Lois Jean Osborn as grantees dated the 28th day of November 1977, and recorded in Book 680, pages 41 and 42 in the office of the Davis County Recorder are void and of no effect.

9. All wills, codicils, and trust instruments executed by the said Grace M. Anderson from and after the 30th day of July 1977 are hereby declared to be null and void and of no effect upon the demise of the said Grace M. Anderson.

*Id.*

**i. Proceedings After Grace's Death.**

Grace then died, and a bench trial was held on objections to the probate of her November 1977 Will based on allegations of incompetency, fraud, undue influence, and the February 1978 Order voiding the Will. In November 1981, the probate court found Grace's November 1977 will to be valid. It further held that it had the authority in November 1981 to vacate those portions of the August 1977 and February 1978 Orders restraining Grace and declaring the November 1977 Will and Deeds invalid. Thus, the probate court voided portions of its August

1977 and February 1978 Orders, reinstated Grace's deeds, and admitted the November 1977 Will to probate. The contestants appealed. *Id.*

**ii. The Supreme Court's Decision.**

On appeal, the Supreme Court addressed two issues: (i) whether the probate court had the authority in November 1981 to vacate its earlier orders as to the two November 1977 deeds; and (ii) whether the probate court had the authority in November 1981 to vacate its earlier orders as to the November 1977 will.

Addressing the first issue, the Court held that the 1977 and 1978 orders became final upon their entry and that no appeal had been taken within the proper time period. *Id.* at 168. The Court therefore held that the portion of the November 1981 Order reinstating the November 1977 deeds was erroneous. The Supreme Court ruled that the February 1978 order voiding the deeds remained valid and binding, and it quieted title to the deeded properties in Grace's probate estate. *Id.*

While this same reasoning applied with equal force to the November 1981 Order's treatment of the November 1977 Will, the Supreme Court nonetheless affirmed the November 1981 Order in vacating those portions of the August 1977 and February 1978 Orders that invalidated Grace's November 1977 Will. *Id.* at 169. It did so on the basis that the August 1977 Order restraining Grace from

executing a will without court approval and its February 1978 Order voiding the November 1977 Will exceeded the probate court's jurisdictional authority. *Id.*

**iii. The Importance of Estate of Anderson to this Case.**

Section 75-1-302, quoted above, was the same in 1977, 1978, and 1981 as it is today. Utah Code Ann. §75-1-302 (1975). Notwithstanding Section 75-1-302, in *Estate of Anderson*, the Supreme Court held the probate court exceeded its jurisdictional authority in a matter involving: “estates of decedents . . . and estates of protected persons [and] protection of minors and incapacitated persons.” Utah Code Ann. §75-1-302(1).

**iv. The Supreme Court's Reasoning.**

The Supreme Court first addressed the fact that both the August 1977 and February 1978 orders were entered pursuant to the stipulation of the parties. It held:

Judgments by consent may be set aside under like conditions as contracts or under circumstances where the court exceeded its powers of adjudication. “A judgment by consent, in order to be valid, must be within the jurisdiction of the court.” Provisions of judgments by consent which are beyond the jurisdiction of the court are not validated by the fact that the parties or their counsel consent to the judgment.

*Id.* at 168-69; citations omitted.

Second, the Supreme Court relied upon Section 75-5-408(1)(c). Utah Code Ann. §75-5-408(1)(c) (1975); *Estate of Anderson* at 169. That section grants the probate court the power to exercise all powers for a protected person that the protected person could exercise for him- or herself **except** the power to execute a will. Although the exception would not seem to apply to the probate court's action revoking the protected person's will, it clearly applied to the probate court's attempt to enjoin the decedent from executing a new will without court approval. In any event, the Supreme Court concluded: "[T]he provision of the [February 1978] order nullifying the November will was beyond the statutory power of the court and consent by the parties cannot validate it." *Id.*

**b. Applying *Estate of Anderson* to this Case.**

Like the probate court in *Estate of Anderson*, the probate court here exceeded its jurisdictional authority when it purported to appoint a personal representative after three years. After entering its Determination of Heirs on March 7, 2006, the probate court exceeded its jurisdictional authority by entering its Appointment Order on April 28, 2006. It further exceeded its jurisdictional authority when it ordered supervised administration, thus taking control and dominion over assets vested in the decedent's heirs and not subject to

administration. Accordingly, the probate court's Appointment Order should be vacated.

**3. THERE IS NO "ADMINISTRATIVE EXCEPTION" TO SECTION 75-3-107.**

While there are exceptions that permit administration beyond three years in certain limited circumstances, *see* Utah Code Ann. §75-3-107(1)(a) – (c), the stated purpose of Section 75-3-107(1) is to prohibit a petition or application for the "appointment" of a personal representative after three years. Utah Code Ann. §75-3-107(1). The **sole purpose** of an appointment proceeding is to obtain a court order appointing a personal representative to administer a decedent's estate. Utah Code Ann. §75-3-301(2)(d) (referring to "informal applications for appointment of a personal representative"); §75-3-402(1) (referring to petitions "for appointment of personal representative"). It is neither logical nor accurate to claim that notwithstanding that no proceeding for appointment of a personal representative can be filed, an "administrator" (Appellee's Brief at 7-8) can be appointed to administer the estate under an "administrative" exception to Section 75-3-107.

In contrast to Ms. Dimeo's argument, when an applicant files an informal application for appointment, the applicant must verify (under oath or penalty of perjury):



(f) That the time limit for informal . . . appointment as provided in this chapter has not expired either because three years or less have passed since the decedent's death, or if more than three years from death have passed, that circumstances as described by Section 75-3-107 authorizing tardy probate or appointment have occurred.

Utah Code Ann. §75-3-301(2)(f). The same allegation is required in formal appointment proceedings, although it need not be verified. Utah Code Ann. §75-3-402(1)(a) (requiring that formal petitions contain the same statements identified in "Section 75-3-301(2)" for informal applications; *see* Section 75-3-301(2)(f) quoted above). Given the requirement that this affirmative averment must be made **before a personal representative can be appointed**, it cannot follow that there is an "administrative" exception to the three year rule.

This prohibition against appointment and administration is not "harsh." Appellee's Brief at 7, 8. It is intended to be strictly applied, but that does not make it "harsh." While the appointment of a personal representative to administer the estate is prohibited after three years, subsection (2) of Section 75-3-107 provides the methodology to deal with that situation. "(2) The limitations provided in Subsection (1) do not apply to proceedings . . . to determine heirs of an intestate." Utah Code Ann. §75-3-107(2). After three years, the probate court can declare the decedent's heirs and it has "jurisdiction" to "distribute the decedent's property" to the heirs and to "determine what property was owned by the decedent

at the time of death.” Utah Code Ann. §75-3-107(3). Because the decedent’s estate devolved to the heirs at the moment of death (Utah Code Ann. §75-3-101(1977)), the declaration of heirship establishes the heirs’ ownership of the decedent’s property. There is no need for any further proceedings, and the probate court does not have jurisdictional authority to conduct any further proceedings.

In the present case, the probate court entered its Determination of Heirs on March 7, 2006, prior to and independent of its Order of Formal Appointment of Personal Representative on April 26, 2011. *Compare* R.18-20 *with* R.26-27. The Determination of Heirs identified the decedent’s heirs (R.19, ¶7), identified property owned by the decedent at the time of the decedent’s death (R.19, ¶8), and identified the intestate shares of the heirs. R. 19-20, ¶9. The probate court’s Appointment Order purported to appoint personal representatives, grant them “letters of administration” (R.27), and order a supervised administration over property that had already been determined to be owned by the decedent’s heirs. In entering the Appointment Order, the probate court exceeded its jurisdictional authority.

For these reasons, Ms. Dimeo’s arguments in favor of her “administrative” exception that:

[T]here would be no judicial or legal vehicle available to clear title and to address legal estate problems once the magic 3-year time period terminated;

and

Estates will be summarily denied access to the courts solely through the passage of time and in many cases that passage of time may be in ignorance of death, heirs, location of assets, encumbrances, or other matters that must be acknowledged and addressed in order to accomplish the orderly distribution of estate property,

are incorrect. Appellee's Brief at 7, 8. Had the probate court acknowledged the limits of its jurisdiction and authority, all of the remedies necessary to resolve the issues raised by Ms. Dimeo would have been fully available to the heirs – the owners of the decedent's property and the real parties in interest.

**4. THE COURT SHOULD NOT AFFIRM ON THE BASIS OF MS. DIMEO'S ALTERNATIVE THEORIES BECAUSE THE PROBATE COURT LACKED JURISDICTION, AND TWO THEORIES FAIL AS A MATTER OF LAW AND NONE OF THE THEORIES ARE "APPARENT FROM THE RECORD."**

The probate court did not address the alternative theories raised by Ms.

Dimeo on appeal. R. 317-18 (the "Denial Order"); Appellee's Brief at 9-14.

Without any findings of fact, the probate court ruled:

[T]he Petition of Nupetco Associates, LLC shall be and the same hereby is denied. The Court concludes that it has jurisdiction in this matter and that the personal representative was properly appointed and acted with authority pursuant to notice, hearing and authorization, all as approved and authorized by this Court.

R. 318. Ms. Dimeo is thus asking the Court of Appeals to affirm on the basis of the alternative theories she asserts.

**a. If the Probate Court Lacked Jurisdiction to Enter the Appointment Order, Ms. Dimeo's Alternative Theories are Irrelevant.**

Ms. Dimeo's alternative theories have no relevance to Nupetco's claim that the probate court did not have the jurisdictional authority to enter the Appointment Order. *Chen v. Stewart*, 2004 UT 82, ¶ 36, 100 P.3d 1177 (challenge to jurisdiction can be raised at any point in the proceedings). Since Nupetco filed its petition seeking vacation of the Appointment Order in the probate case, if the probate court lacked subject matter jurisdiction, Nupetco's petition must be granted and the probate court's Appointment Order must be vacated.

**b. If the Probate Court Had Jurisdiction, then the Court of Appeals Should Address Ms. Dimeo's Alternative Theories.**

If the probate court had jurisdiction to enter the Appointment Order, then the issue is whether it nonetheless committed an error of law by appointing Ms. Dimeo personal representative. In that event, the Court of Appeals may affirm the probate court's order on any other appropriate grounds. *Johnson v. Johnson*, 2010 UT 28, ¶ 13, 234 P.3d 1100. But, the Court of Appeals can also decline to affirm in any event. *Francis v. State, Utah Div. of Wildlife Resources*, 2010 UT 62, ¶19,

248 P.3d 44 (“It is well established that this court *may* affirm the judgment [on an alternative theory apparent from the record].”); emphasis in Supreme Court’s opinion.

While the appellate court’s right to affirm on any basis is broad, it is not unlimited. To affirm on an alternative theory, the theory must be “apparent from the record.”<sup>2</sup> *Id.* In this case, the Court of Appeals should not affirm on any of the alternative theories asserted by Ms. Dimeo.

**c. Determining When a Theory is “Apparent from [or on] the Record.”**

For a matter to be “apparent from [or on] the record,” two thresholds must be met. First, the alternative legal theory asserted must be clear from the record so that the appellant has adequate notice of the alternative theory. *Id.* at ¶10. That is not an issue here because Ms. Dimeo made the arguments to the probate court that she now makes to the Court of Appeals.<sup>3</sup> R.273-80.

---

<sup>2</sup> Ms. Dimeo attached the docket in the Nupetco Litigation to her Appellee’s Brief in her Addendum. That was not part of the record on appeal. Nupetco asks the Court either to strike this document or to ignore it in reaching its decision.

<sup>3</sup> This requirement applies to theories that were not asserted in the trial court proceedings but were nonetheless apparent from the record.

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