2011

Nupetco Associates, LLC v. Diane Dimeo : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

**THE COURT BELOW HAD SUBJECT MATTER
JURISDICTION AND FULL AUTHORITY TO ENTER THE
ORDER OF APPOINTMENT BEING CHALLENGED BY
NUPETCO IN THIS APPEAL.**

SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION.

Utah Code Ann. § 75-1-302 states:

- (1) To the full extent permitted by the Constitution of Utah, the [probate] court has jurisdiction over all subject matter relating to:
 - (a) Estates of decedents including construction of wills and determination of heirs and successors of decedents and estates of protected persons;
 - ...
- (2) The court has full power to make judgments and decrees and take all other action necessary and proper to administer justice in the matters which come before it.

One would be hard pressed to find a broader statement of jurisdiction for a trial level court. The Petition that initiated the instant action is, among other things, a Petition for a determination of heirs, a category expressly covered by the above-quoted statute. In addition, the Probate Court has subject matter jurisdiction to administer estates and to take action to facilitate resolution of problems relating to estate property such as the quiet title action authorized by the Court below. This is the business of probate courts. As noted in Section 3 of Utah Code Ann. § 75-3-107, “the court has continuing jurisdiction to handle all matters necessary to distribute the decedent’s property, including jurisdiction to determine what property was owned by the decedent at the time of death.”

Nupetco’s citation to governmental immunity cases in order to buttress its

jurisdictional argument is unavailing. There, government is presumed to be immune and jurisdiction to initiate an action is only granted upon compliance with the governmental immunity act. Here, the jurisdictional grant is broad, unconditional and all-inclusive. The three-year limitation of § 107 is a limitation with numerous exceptions – it does not circumscribe jurisdiction. The Probate Court had jurisdiction to address the matters before it.

AUTHORITY TO APPOINT.

It is and has been the position of Dimeo that the 3-year limitation on appointment of a personal representative is “subject to an administration exception”. In other words, the presumption and general rule is that the appointment must occur within 3 years of the death of the decedent. However, if a probate case has to be filed thereafter in order to “administer the estate or determine heirs”, then an exception exists in the statutory scheme to do just that. As noted in Subsection 2 of § 107, “the [3 year] limitations in subsection 1 do not apply to proceedings to construe probated wills or determine heirs of an estate.”

Dimeo does not contest the argument of Nupetco that in an intestate estate the title to property “devolves” to the heirs. This however is a theoretical devolution and some action must be taken in order to cause that devolution to

appear of record in the office of the county recorder. Therefore, heirs must be determined, orders must be entered and recorded and at times title problems must be resolved by further administration of the estate, including quiet title actions such as the Nupetco Litigation. This is what administration of an estate means. Were that not the case, there would be no judicial or legal vehicle available to clear title and to address legal estate problems once the magic 3-year time period terminated. As the court noted in the case of Berneau v. Martino, 2009 UT 87, 223 P.3d 1128 at n.5, such a narrow reading of the 3-year time period may well constitute a denial of constitutional rights under the Open-Courts Clause of the Utah Constitution, Art. I, § 11, in foreclosing persons from access to the court and a legal remedy under such circumstances. In the Berneau case, the court used the equitable discovery rule to grant relief from the harsh application of the 3-year rule in order to avoid the constitutional conundrum just mentioned.

Dimeo acknowledges that perhaps rather than being denoted as a personal representative, she should have been designated as an administrator of the Estate, but such a technical distinction would not have changed the job she set out to accomplish, namely to clear up title to the assets of the Estate of her mother, underneath the watchful eye of the Second Judicial District Probate Court. The

limitations in each statute cited by Nupetco in support of its argument challenging the Order of Appointment are “subject to administration”. *See, e.g.*, Utah Code Ann. §§ 75-3-101, 75-3-107(2), 75-3-105(2). Dimeo submits that it is the concept of administration that is the safety valve in the Probate Code that relieves the harshness of the 3-year limitation provided in § 75-3-107(1). Without that interpretation which gives substance to the broad delegation of jurisdiction and discretion provided by the Probate Code, estates will be summarily denied access to the courts solely through the passage of time and in many cases that passage of time may be in ignorance of death, heirs, location of assets, encumbrances, or other matters that must be acknowledged and addressed in order to accomplish the orderly distribution of estate property. The narrow interpretation urged by Nupetco will eviscerate this broad, necessary discretion and will leave many heirs and litigants without an available remedy.

Nupetco argues that the heirs should be the plaintiffs in the Nupetco Litigation. It does so because it wants to assert a counterclaim against one of the heirs, and it cannot do so in a separate action because the statute of limitations has expired. It is true that the heirs could still be substituted in the Nupetco Litigation per Rules 17 and 19, Utah R. Civ. P., but substitution would not be possible in all

estate litigation if heirs were unavailable, lost, or in question. This is why Dimeo believes that the “administration exception” exists. There must be a safety valve. Otherwise access to the courts will be denied and the problem of cleaning up dormant estates will be exacerbated. The administration exception to § 107 allows the appointment herein.

POINT II

NUPETCO’S MOTION TO VACATE WAS UNTIMELY AND ITS PRIOR INACTION WAIVED ANY RIGHT TO CHALLENGE DIMEO’S APPOINTMENT.

LEGAL INSUFFICIENCY.

As noted above, this action is the supervised administration of an intestate estate. Heir Jerry Strand specifically requested this type of administration in the record below. [See Pet. at R. 31.] Under supervised administration, the action is *in rem*, and the rules respecting the determination of the finality of an order are somewhat different than in non-probate cases. Estate of Morrison, *supra* at 1016. The test is pragmatic and looks at the effect of the ruling on the estate case. In Morrison an order appointing an administrator was one circumstance specifically found to be a final order due to its impact on further administration of the estate. *Id.* Citing In Re: Tasanen’s Estate, 71 P. 984 (Utah 1903). One can easily see

how any appeal of an order of appointment could not await the outcome of the probate process due to the many irreversible actions such as transfer of property that could occur before the appeal was addressed. Hence, the pragmatic approach makes good sense in the probate context.

Here, Nupetco challenges the ruling of the trial court refusing to exercise its power to vacate a final order without recognizing that its “Petition” was actually a motion for relief from the order governed by Rule 60(b), Utah R. Civ. P., because the order it sought to vacate was in fact a final order for appeal purposes.

Nupetco’s argument in this regard is a *Catch-22* scenario. Below it failed to argue that a different rule for determining the finality of an order applied to probate cases, as stated in Voorhees Estate and Estate of Morrison, *supra*. Had it done so, it would have been required to concede that its Petition to Vacate was grossly out of time, coming 4 years late. Rule 60(b) recognizes that relief from a final judgment or order must be timely sought. In its Petition to the Court below, Nupetco asserted that “Ms. Dimeo failed to advise the court of subsection (1) of [§ 75-3-107].” That allegation of misconduct falls within Rule 60(b)(3), and requires a party to seek relief “not more than 3 months after the judgment, order or proceeding” *Id.* Even if the more general basis for seeking relief under Rule 60

applied, the motion must have been made “within a reasonable time.” *Id.*

Nupetco has known since July of 2006 when it was sued in the Nupetco Litigation that Ms. Dimeo was acting as Personal Representative for the Estate. Four years later, it sought to have that appointment set aside. Even under liberal construction, Nupetco’s Motion was not made within a reasonable time. *See, e.g., Estate of Pepper v. Zions First National Bank*, 711 P.2d 261 (Utah 1985). It was therefore appropriate for the Probate Court to deny Nupetco’s Petition to Vacate as being out of time.²

EQUITABLE INSUFFICIENCY.

In *Warren v. Dixon Ranch Co.*, 260 P.2d 741 (Utah 1953), the Supreme Court recognized that “[t]he allowance of a vacation of judgment is a creature of equity . . .” *Id.* at 742.

Equity considers factors which may be irrelevant in actions at law, such as the unfairness of the party’s conduct, his delay in bringing or continuing the action, the hardship in granting or denying relief. Although an equity court no longer has complete discretion in granting or denying relief it may exercise wide judicial discretion in weighing the factors of fairness and public convenience, and this court on appeal will reverse the

² It is worth noting that had Nupetco sought its relief by an independent action as provided for in Rule 60(b), that independent action would have also been time-barred. Utah Code Ann. § 78B-2-305(3) (providing a three year limitation, after discovery “for relief on the ground of fraud or mistake.”)

trial court only where an abuse of this discretion is clearly shown.

Warren at 742 (citation omitted). Similarly, entry of a *nunc pro tunc* order involves the equitable powers of the Court. *E.g.*, Bagshaw v. Bagshaw, 788 P.2d 1057, 1060 (Utah App. 1990) (incorporating common law *nunc pro tunc* rules into statutory provision).³ The Court is therefore required to balance the interests of the parties and the effects of Nupetco's proposed order.

“The doctrine of laches is based upon the maxim that equity aids the vigilant and not those who slumber on their rights.” CIG Exploration, Inc. v. State, 2001 UT 37, ¶ 14, 24 P.3d 966, 970 (punctuation, citation omitted). Laches is a delay in asserting a right which works to the disadvantage of another. DOIT, Inc. v. Touche, Ross & Co., 926 P.2d 835, 845 (Utah 1996). Where a party seeking relief has unreasonably delayed application for the relief, resulting in prejudice to another, laches will bar that relief. Baggett v. Cyclops Medical Systems, Inc., 935 P.2d 1265, 1270 (Utah App. 1997); Nilson-Newey & Co. v. Utah Resources International, 905 P.2d 312, 314 (Utah App. 1995).

³ In reality, *nunc pro tunc* doesn't really apply in this situation. *E.g.*, 46 Am.Jur.2d Judgments § 130 (“The power of a court to open, modify, or vacate the judgment rendered by it must be distinguished from the power of a court to amend records of its judgments by correcting mistakes or supplying omissions in it, and to apply such amendment retroactively by an entry *nunc pro tunc*.”)

In the instant case Ms. Dimeo was appointed Personal Representative in April of 2006 and commenced the Nupetco Litigation in that capacity on July 17, 2006. Rather than have the original appointment decision re-evaluated by this Court, Nupetco initially made a collateral challenge in the Nupetco Litigation to the decision of the lower court which was properly rejected by the Court in that proceeding. *See, e.g., Tolle v. Fenley*, 2006 UT App. 78, ¶15, 132 P.3d 63, 67 (Utah App. 2006) (“The general rule of law is that a judgment may not be drawn in question in a collateral proceeding and an attack upon a judgment is regarded as collateral if made when the judgment is offered as the basis of a claim in a subsequent proceeding.” (citation omitted)). Nupetco knew that Ms. Dimeo had been appointed Personal Representative, apparently believed that the appointment was improper, and failed to bring the issue before the lower court for nearly four years and then only after having its collateral challenge of that decision rejected. Because of Nupetco’s failure to timely challenge Ms. Dimeo’s appointment, she has expended considerable time and money in prosecuting the Nupetco Litigation and defending against Nupetco’s counterclaims therein. If Nupetco is successful now, much of that time and money may have been wasted and the litigation will need to be restructured and pursued anew.

Here we have both a significant delay in asserting a claim accompanied by significant prejudice to Ms. Dimeo and the Estate. It is appropriate for the Court to apply the doctrine of laches to bar Nupetco's attempts to set aside and vacate the Order of the lower court.

POINT III

NUPETCO'S REQUEST FOR A RULE 54(B) CERTIFICATION OF THE ORDER DENYING ITS PETITION TO VACATE THE ORDER OF APPOINTMENT WAS IN ERROR.

In the Court below, Nupetco asked the Court to certify the Order it appeals here as being final within the meaning of Rule 54(b), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. The lower court declined and Nupetco appealed. Now on appeal, Nupetco suggests that such a certification was unnecessary because the Order it was appealing from was a final order even without certification, based on the rule of Voorhees Estate and Estate of Morrison, *supra*. This latter argument, however, was not presented to the Court below. Frankly, Dimeo agrees that the Order of Appointment was a final order when entered in 2006. The problem is that Nupetco did nothing about it for 4 years. As a result, the appeal time ran as did the time to petition for relief from the order to the lower court. It is likely that the Order Denying the Petition to Vacate was also a final order, but it did not require

Rule 54(b) certification and it did not meet the requirements for such certification because Nupetco was not a party to the action. The Utah Supreme Court has stated that in order for a trial court to provide a Rule 54(b) certification, three elements must be present: First, there must be multiple claims for relief or multiple parties to the action. Second, the judgment appealed from must have been entered on an order that would be appealable but for the fact that other claims or parties remain in the action. Third, the trial court in its discretion must make a determination that there is no just reason for delay of the appeal. Pate, 692 P.2d 765, 767 (Utah 1984). All of these requirements must be met. An order that is final as to a claim or a party in a multi-claim or multi-party suit is appealable under Rule 54(b) only if it is accompanied by a district court certification that no just reason exists for delaying the appeal; an order that does not wholly dispose of a claim or party is not final under Rule 54(b) and will not be appealable, even with such certification. *Id.* See also Bennion v. Penzoil Company, 826 P.2d 137 (Utah 1992).

Dimeo was reluctant to urge Rule 54(b) certification of this order because Nupetco was not a party to the action. It never sought to be made a party or never brought a separate claim or sought any other type of affirmative relief that would rise to the level of being a separate claim or conveying party status. Nupetco alleged that it

was “an interested person” in an effort to give it standing to file its Petition, but that does not make it a party to the action. Having failed to meet the requirement of disposing of a party or a separate claim, Dimeo believes that the order is not eligible for certification under Rule 54(b).

Dimeo believes that the rule of Voorhees and Morrison applies and that both the Order of Appointment and the Order Denying the Petition to Vacate were final under the pragmatic test articulated in those cases. In the end it doesn't matter because Nupetco's request is so far out of time it has forfeited any right of challenge by failure to act seasonably on its rights.

In the Court below, Dimeo argued that the Order of Appointment was a final order and the Petition to Vacate it was untimely. [R. 275-6.] That is and remains the correct focus. The 54(b) certification issue is a distraction. Whether or not this Court believes the order denying the Petition to Vacate was final or not, the fact remains that the order sought to be vacated was final and had been for 4 years and any attack was untimely. In either event, Nupetco's attack on it must fail.


CONCLUSION

The primary reason to affirm the ruling of the Probate Court below, denying the Petition to Vacate an Order of Appointment entered in 2006, is that by any measure the Petition was untimely. The Order of Appointment is no longer appealable. The subject matter jurisdiction argument is completely without merit as the Probate Court enjoys a broad, general grant of jurisdiction by the Probate Code. Finally, Rule 54(b) certification is neither necessary nor proper, but it doesn't matter much because the initial Petition was out of time.

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